FILED ON)

FILED ON

JUL 10 2010

WASHINGTON STATE

WASHINGTON STATE

SUPREME COURT

94715.5 NO. 48655-5-11

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

	11	IC	Ю	R1	11
\mathbf{v}	v	12	U	14	11

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

JONATHAN WATSON,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

C.	Issues Presented for Review
	IN A THREE STRIKES CASE MAY A TRIAL COURT FIND COMPARABILITY IN A FOREIGN CONVICTION BASED UPON FACTS THAT WERE NOT ADMITTED, STIPULATED TO, OR PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT IN THE FOREIGN CASE? 4
D.	Statement of the Case 4
E.	Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted
F.	Conclusion
G.	Appendix
	1. U.C.A. 76-6-301 (1999)
Н.	Affirmation of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
State Cases
In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery, 154 Wn.2d 249, 111 P.3d 837 (2005)
State v. Ortega, 120 Wn.App. 165, 84 P.3d 935 (2004)
Statutes and Court Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RCW 9A.56.190 1:
U.C.A. 76-6-301 (1999)

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jonathan Watson asks this court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of each and every part of the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the Thurston County Superior Court sentence.

A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached as is a copy of an Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Publish.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

IN A THREE STRIKES CASE MAY A TRIAL COURT FIND COMPARABILITY IN A FOREIGN CONVICTION BASED UPON FACTS THAT WERE NOT ADMITTED, STIPULATED TO, OR PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT IN THE FOREIGN CASE?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By information filed December 31, 2013, the Thurston County Prosecutor charged the defendant Jonathan Watson with one count of first degree robbery of a financial institution under RCW 9A.56.200(1)(b) as well as possession of methamphetamine. CP 3. The state also served the defendant with "Notice of Intent to Seek Sentence of Life Imprisonment" upon an allegation that he had two prior, independent strike convictions. CP 4. The case eventually came on for trial, after which the jury returned guilty verdicts on both counts. RP 639-680, 688-689; CP 101-102.

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 4

At the subsequent sentencing hearing in this case the state presented a number of documents in support of its claim that the defendant had two prior strike convictions. CP 132-143. These documents included a "Statement of Defendant, Certificate of Counsel and Order" that revealed that on March 31, 2000, the defendant plead guilty in the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County on March 31, 2000, to the crimes of "Attempted Robbery" under U.C.A. 76-6-301 and "Theft" under U.C.A. 76-6-404. CP 186. This document listed the elements of these offenses using the following language:

The elements of the crime(s) of which I am charged are as follows:

- 1) Attempt to take Property from a third party by force or threat
- 2) Attempt to appropriate property of another unlawfully and without permission with a purpose to deprive.

CP 187 (first sentence is printed; the remainder is in longhand).

This same document also included the following statement by the defendant as to the conduct he committed that constituted the crimes charged:

My conduct and the conduct of other persons for which I am criminally liable that constitutes the element(s) of the crime(s) charged is as follows:

1) On September 3, 1999, at 2280 S. Highland Drive I attempted to steal beer by means of a threat of harm to the employee at the convenience store located there;

2) On September 3, 1999, at 209 So[uth] 1300 East I attempted to take an 18 pack of beer and leave the premises without paying for it.CP 187 (first sentence is in print; the remainder is in longhand).

At the sentencing hearing in this case the defense did not dispute the state's claims that this conviction existed. RP 6-7. Rather the defense argued *inter alia*, that the Utah conviction was neither legally nor factually equivalent to a Washington strike offense. CP 248-292; RP 28-48. The trial court rejected this argument and found that the defendant's Utah conviction was both the legal and factual equivalent to a Washington Strike Offense. RP 57-70. As a result, the court imposed a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of release. CP 315-323. The defendant thereafter filed timely notice of appeal. CP 305-314.

By unpublished opinion filed May 16, 2017, Division II of the Court of Appeals affirmed the defendant's conviction and sentence. *See* Opinion Attached. In its opinion the court did not rule on the defendant's argument that the Utah offense was not legally equivalent to a Washington Strike offense. *Id.* Rather, the court ruled that the two offenses were factually equivalent. *Id.* The court stated the following on this issue.

At sentencing, the State provided the trial court with Watson's plea statement to the Utah attempted robbery. It stated, "On September 3, 1999, at 2280 S. Highland Drive I attempted to steal beer by means of a threat of harm to the employee of the convenience store located there[.]" CP at 187. Other documents that the State submitted showed

that Watson walked out of a store with beer for which he had not paid. An employee of the store followed Watson to his car, repeatedly telling Watson that he needed to pay for the beer. Watson twice responded, "Is it worth your life?" CP at 184. When the employee continued to follow him, Watson told the employee, "If you follow me, I'll kill you." CP at 184. On the same day, Watson walked out of another store with unpaid beer. When a store employee confronted Watson, he responded, "The beer is not worth your life." CP at 184.

These undisputed facts show that Watson took personal property in the employee's presence, against his or her will, by threatening to use immediate force, violence, or fear of injury.

State v. Watson, No. 48655-5-II, pages 9-10.

Following entry of this decision the defendant filed a timely Motion to Publish, which the Court of Appeals denied on June 13, 2017. *See* Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Publish, *attached*. Appellant now seeks review before this court.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case that in making a determination whether or not the defendant's Utah conviction was factually equivalent to a Washington Strike offense it could consider factual claims in the foreign record which were not admitted, stipulated to, or proved beyond a reasonable doubt conflicts with the decision of this court in *In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d 249, 111 P.3d 837 (2005). Consequently, under RAP 13.4(b)(1), this is an appropriate case for review. The following sets out this argument.

In *In re Personal Restraint of Lavery, supra,* this court addressed the question as to what facts a trial court could consider when determining whether or not the state had proven that a foreign conviction was the equivalent to a Washington strike offense. In this case a defendant sentenced under the three strikes law appealed arguing that the trial court erred when it ruled that his prior federal conviction for bank robbery was neither legally nor factually equivalent to the Washington strike offense of second degree robbery. In addressing this issue the court first ruled that since (1) the federal bank robbery statute was a general intent crime, and (2) second degree robbery under Washington law was a specific intent crime that required proof of the intent to steal, then the offenses were not legally equivalent.

This court then noted the following about the difficulty in determining factual comparability in these circumstances: "Where the foreign statute is broader than Washington's, that examination may not be possible because there may have been no incentive for the accused to have attempted to prove that he did not commit the narrower offense." In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery, 154 Wn. 2d at 257 (citing State v. Ortega, 120 Wn.App. 165, 84 P.3d 935 (2004).

The court went on to note that Ortega, the issue was whether a 1991

Texas conviction for indecency with a child in the second degree was comparable to the Washington strike offense of first degree child molestation, which criminalizes sexual contact with a minor under the age of 12. By contrast, the Texas statute criminalized sexual contact with a minor under the age of 17. In the Texas case the defendant had not admitted or stipulated to the age of the child. Furthermore, even had the child claimed to be 11, the defendant would have had no incentive to challenge that fact given that the critical age under the Texas statute was 17. Thus, the defendant had no incentive to dispute any claim that the child was under 12-years-old, which is a requirement for conviction under Washington law. Consequently there was no basis for finding factual comparability with the Texas statute.

After reviewing the Ortega case, this court held as follows in Lavery:

As in *Ortega*, Lavery had no motivation in the earlier conviction to pursue defenses that would have been available to him under Washington's robbery statute but were unavailable in the federal prosecution. Furthermore, Lavery neither admitted nor stipulated to facts which established specific intent in the federal prosecution, and specific intent was not proved beyond a reasonable doubt in the 1991 federal robbery conviction. We conclude that Lavery's 1991 foreign robbery conviction is neither factually nor legally comparable to Washington's second degree robbery and therefore not a strike under the POAA.

In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery, 154 Wn.2d at 258.

The same analysis and conclusion follows in the case at bar. In this

case the state's evidence revealed that the defendant was convicted of attempted robbery under U.C.A. 76-6-301 committed on September 3, 1999. As of that date the Utah statute provided:

- (1) A person commits robbery if:
- (a) the person unlawfully and intentionally takes or attempts to take personal property in the possession of another from his person, or immediate presence, against his will, by means of force or fear, or
- (b) the person intentionally or knowingly uses force or fear of immediate force against another in the course of committing a theft.
- (2) An act shall be is considered "in the course of committing a theft" if it occurs in an attempt to commit theft, commission of theft, or in the immediate flight after the attempt or commission.
 - (3) Robbery is a felony of the second degree.

U.C.A. 76-6-301 (1999) (emphasis added).

By contrast, in Washington the legislature has defined the term "robbery" as follows:

A person commits robbery when he or she unlawfully takes personal property from the person of another or in his or her presence against his or her will by the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his or her property or the person or property of anyone. Such force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking; in either of which cases the degree of force is immaterial. Such taking constitutes robbery whenever it appears that, although the taking was fully completed without the knowledge of the person from whom taken, such knowledge was prevented by the use of force or fear.

RCW 9A.56.190 (emphasis added).

Under U.C.A. 76-6-301(1)(a) as it existed in 1999, a person who took personal property from another "by means of force or fear" would be guilty of robbery. There was no requirement that the "means of force of fear" be "immediate." Rather, the threat could be to the use of force in the future. By contrast, under RCW 9A.56.190, the "force, violence, or fear of injury" must be immediate for the crime to be robbery. In addition, a careful review of U.C.A. 76-6-301 indicates that the Utah Legislature's failure to include the requirement of immediacy under part (1)(a) is no error. Under part (1)(b), which is an alternative method for committing the crime, a person who "uses force or fear of immediate force" is also guilty of robbery. Thus, under one alternative under Utah law there is no requirement of immediacy while under the second there is. Consequently, not every commission of a robbery under Utah law also constitutes the commission of a robbery under Washington law. The two statutes are not legally equivalent.

In the case at bar the state presented only one document setting out the facts underlying the defendant's Utah case to which the defendant made an admission in the Utah case. This document was the "Statement of Defendant, Certificate of Counsel and Order" which is the equivalent of a Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty under Washington law. That

document set out the elements of the offense as follows: "Attempt to take Property from a third party by force or threat." This constitutes the elements of the offense under the (1)(a) alternative of U.C.A. 76-6-301 (1999). The defendant then admitted to the following conduct as related to that robbery charge as alleged under U.C.A. 76-6-301(1)(a):

1) On September 3, 1999, at 2280 S. Highland Drive I attempted to steal beer by means of a threat of harm to the employee at the convenience store located there;

CP 187.

As is clear from the language of the plea form, the Utah prosecutor did not allege any immediacy in the use of or threatened use of force and the defendant did not admit any immediacy in the use or threatened use of force. It is true, as the Court of Appeals held, that in the case at bar the prosecutor presented a probable cause statement from the Utah case that did allege the immediate threat of force. However, in relying upon this document the Court of Appeals ignored this court's holding from *Lavery* that in making a determination on factual comparability, the trial court may only rely upon facts that the defendant admitted, stipulated to, or that were proved beyond a reasonable doubt in the foreign proceeding. In addition, the Court of Appeals also ignored this court's holding from *Lavery* that when the critical fact under Washington law is essentially irrelevant in

the foreign proceeding, the defendant's failure to dispute that fact in the foreign proceeding is not an admission. Specifically, the Court of Appeals ignored the fact that under Utah law the defendant had no incentive to dispute the claim of an immediate threat contained in the probable cause statement because had pled to an alternative of the offense that did not require an immediate threat. Consequently, the Court of Appeals decision in this case is in conflict with this court's holding in *Lavery*. Appellant respectfully requests that this court grant review on this basis.

F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out in this motion, this court should accept review of this case and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal.