FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/25/2017 4:25 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 94715-5 COA No. 48655-5-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JONATHAN WATSON,

Petitioner,

٧.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JON TUNHEIM Prosecuting Attorney

JOSEPH J.A. JACKSON Attorney for Petitioner

Thurston County Prosecutor's Office 2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

I. IDENTITY OF THE RESPONDENT.

The State of Washington, by and through its attorney, Joseph J.A. Jackson, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Thurston County, asks this Court to deny review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review in <u>State v. Watson</u>, No. 48655-5-II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS OPINION.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Watson's conviction of one count of first degree robbery of a financial institution and possession of methamphetamine. The Court of Appeals also affirmed the sentence of life in prison without the possibility of release.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

 Whether the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Watson's out of conviction was legally and factually comparable to a Washington State Strike offense.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

For purposes of this response, the State accepts Watson's substantive and procedural facts of this case. The State further relies on the facts as presented in the Court of Appeals opinion, State v. Watson, No. 48655-5-II at 1-5.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED.

This Court will accept review when the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1), conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(2), raises a significant question of law under the Washington or the United States Constitutions, RAP 13.4(b)(3), or involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The decision at issue does not conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals, as detailed below.

There is no need for a review because the case the petitioner cites to, <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery</u>, 154 Wn.2d 249, 111 P.3d 837 (2005), is not contradictory to the current holding of the Court of Appeals in this case. The defendant in <u>Lavery</u>, was convicted of second degree robbery in 1998, and sentenced to life in prison under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act. <u>Id.</u>, at 252. The State argued the defendant's prior conviction for federal bank robbery was comparable to the crime of second degree robbery in Washington, which constitutes a strike offense. <u>Id.</u> The defendant's first Personal Restraint Petition (PRP) was dismissed

in February of 2002. <u>Id</u>. at 253. However his position that the federal conviction was not a strike offense under Washington law was "vindicated when, on February 19, 2004, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion in <u>State v. Freeburg</u>, 120 Wn.App 192, 84 P.3d 292, review denied, 152 Wn.2d 1022 (2004). <u>State v. Lavery</u> 154 Wn.2d. at 253. <u>State v. Freeburg</u>, was a significant change in the law. <u>State v. Lavery</u>, 154 Wn.2d at 260-61. It held that "federal bank robbery is not legally comparable to the crime of robbery in Washington." <u>Id</u>. at 253. The defendant's argument was accepted and his sentence vacated, <u>Id</u>., because "[u]nder <u>Freeburg</u> [his] federal bank robbery conviction was not necessarily a strike offense and he, therefore, may not have been properly sentenced to life in prison without parole. <u>Id</u>. at 260.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Watson's out of state conviction was legally and factually comparable to a Washington State strike offense.

In this case, the Court of Appeals relied on State v. Thiefault, 160 Wn.2d 409, 158 P.3d 508 (2007), which was decided two years after Lavery. In Thiefault, the Court followed a two part test for determining comparability. First, the sentencing court determines whether the out of state offense is legally comparable, which

requires consideration of "whether the elements of the offense are substantially similar to the elements of the Washington offense." State v. Thiefault, 160 Wn.2d at 415. If the court finds that the elements of the out-of-state offense are broader than the Washington statute, the sentencing court then must determine whether the offense is factually comparable, requiring the court to consider, "whether the conduct underlying the offense would have violated the comparable Washington statute." Id.

The Court of Appeals properly applied the test in Thiefault, holding, "Regardless of whether the Utah robbery statute is legally comparable to our Washington Statute, we conclude that Watson's conduct in the Utah robbery would have violated Washington's robbery statute." State v. Watson, No. 48655-5-II, at 10. The Court of Appeals decision correctly applied the facts to the law and was not inconsistent with either State v. Thiefault or In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery. Neither the test in Thiefault nor the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case conflict with the narrow holding of Lavery, where the Court focused specifically on the federal bank robbery statute and the State's concession that the record was insufficient to demonstrate comparability. Lavery, 154 Wn.2d at 253-254.

VI. CONCLUSION.

Review of the instant case is not supported by RAP 13.4(b); the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court, and does not raise a significant question of law under the Constitutions of both Washington and the United States. The State respectfully asks this Court to deny review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the respondent's conviction.